IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Courtney Clyburn Pope, Circuit Court Judge
Trial Court Case No. 2021-CP-07-01078

Appellate Case No. 2023-000581

James Ware, Alisa Ware, Henry Spahr, Elaine Spahr, Julie Sanders,
William Craig Denny, Jeff Toomer, Allyson Toomer, Louise E. Davis,
Donna Nutty, Thomas J. MacDonald, Michael G. MacDonald,
Susanne B. MacDonald, Arlene Coleman, William H. McGee,
Patti M. MacDonald, Scott M. MacDonald, Rose F. McGee, Jason
DuBose, Amanda DuBose, Ronald L. Broome, Lawrence E. Jones,
D. Diane Burr, Mark H. Thomas, Kelly C. Thomas, William Matthew

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY ORDERING AN OVERLY BROAD PROHIBITORY PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION THAT REQUIRES THE COUNTY TO ABANDON THE CURRENT PUBLICLY OWNED FERRY SITE AND CEASE ALL OPERATION OF THE ONLY PUBLIC FERRY TO DAUFUSKIE ISLAND AS OF THE ARBITRARY DATE OF JANUARY 1, 2024?**

- II. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR AND ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN IMPOSING A PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION BY FAILING TO GIVE ANY CONSIDERATION TO THE PARALLEL ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING THAT HAD DETERMINED THE COUNTY'S USE OF THE COMMERCIAL DOCK FOR A PUBLIC FERRY WAS "A LEGAL USE" UNDER THE ZONING ORDINANCE?**

- III. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR AND ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN IMPOSING A PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION IN THE ABSENCE OF EVIDENCE OF IRREPARABLE HARM TO PLAINTIFFS?**

- IV. **DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR AND ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN IMPOSING THE PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION WITHOUT APPROPRIATE CONSIDERATION OF THE ADEQUATE REMEDIES AT LAW SOUGHT BY PLAINTIFFS?**

- V. **IN LIGHT OF THE INDICATED SUBSTANTIAL COSTS TO THE COUNTY, DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR AND ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN SETTING A LOW INJUNCTION BOND OF \$10,000 FOR PLAINTIFFS WITH NO EVIDENTIARY BASIS AND WITHOUT A HEARING?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Complaint in this action, filed on June 11, 2021, alleged that the Plaintiffs are owners or renters of residences in a neighborhood next to a County-owned public boat landing and a County-owned public ferry service access point known as Buckingham Landing. The Complaint further alleged that the County public ferry service access point has been operating as an illegal nonconforming zoning use and as a nuisance since 2018. (R. p. 38). The principal allegations of the Complaint concerning nuisance were that the ferry access point results in a “greatly enhanced volume of traffic” and a “greatly enhanced volume of individuals who mill about the residential neighborhood on foot.” (R. pp. 38-39). The Complaint asserted six causes of action (inverse condemnation, promissory estoppel, declaratory relief, nuisance, negligence, and temporary and permanent injunction) and seeks actual and punitive damages, as well as equitable relief. (R. pp. 33-46).

In response to the Complaint, the Defendant Beaufort County (the “County”) filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC. The motion asserted that the Complaint failed to allege facts showing that the Plaintiffs had sought any administrative determination, as provided by State statutory law and County ordinances, by the County zoning official or the County zoning board of appeals concerning the alleged illegal use of the dock under the County zoning ordinances. (R. pp. 47-48). The County's motion to dismiss for this failure to exhaust administrative remedies was denied, after hearing, by Order of the Honorable Diane S. Goodstein, Circuit Court Judge, filed on October 27, 2021. (R. pp. 29-32).

The subsequent Answer of the County to the Complaint, filed on November 10, 2021, (R. pp. 64-72) denied any liability of the County to the Plaintiffs and raised a number of affirmative defenses, including the County’s asserted lawful use of the Buckingham Landing commercial dock

as a public ferry service access point by reason of, among other things, a 2005 State Commercial Dock Permit and a 2009 County Zoning Permit for a Commercial Dock. (R. p. 68). The Answer also asserted specific affirmative defenses to the inverse condemnation, promissory estoppel, and tort (negligence and nuisance) claims. (R. pp. 69-72). With written consent of the parties, the County filed an Amended Answer on October 11, 2022 (R. pp. 73-82), asserting additional affirmative defenses. The ferry operator Defendants, HPCCA Ferry Company, Inc., and The Daufuskie Island Ferry Service, LLC, filed their joint Answer on September 14, 2021, and also denied liability to the Plaintiffs and asserted affirmative defenses. (R. pp. 54-63).

On March 14, 2022, Plaintiffs filed a motion for partial summary judgment and for a temporary injunction (R. pp. 86-88), along with supporting affidavits. (R. pp. 177-272). Plaintiffs later filed a supporting memorandum. (R. pp. 89-108). In opposition to this motion, the County, on May 16, 2022, filed a memorandum in opposition (R. pp. 109-118) and the affidavits of Robert Merchant (R. pp. 278-319) and David Wilhelm (R. 273-277).

A hearing on Plaintiffs' motion for partial summary judgment and for a temporary injunction was held before the Honorable Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge, on May 18, 2022. Judge Price issued, on May 24, 2022, a Form 4 Order (R. pp. 23-25) providing:

Ferry operations shall continue from now until Labor Day, which falls on September 5, 2022. If a new site has not been designated and approved by September 5, 2022, the Court will allow Plaintiff to seek a renewed injunction.

The County filed a motion to alter or amend the 2022 Injunction Order on June 3, 2022 (R. pp. 119-123) which was heard by Judge Price on August 3, 2022. (R. pp. 136-145). At the hearing, Judge Price described his Order as “[my] nudge to get the county to get off of its rear and try to find an alternative site.” (R. p. 138, lines 15-17).

When advised at the hearing that the County Council had given two of three required readings to an ordinance for approval of purchase or condemnation of an alternative ferry site on Hilton Head Island to take the place of the Buckingham Landing site, Judge Price advised that he would not shut down the ferry on Labor Day. (R. p. 138, line 19–p. 139, line 1; p. 140, line 3–p. 142, line 5): “So on Labor Day, I’m not shutting it down. I would never do that because people got to get to and from the island, they’ve got to make money, the County’s got to run a marina. I mean, that’s just the way life goes, but my plan worked. So, I’m not going to stop on Labor Day.” (R. p. 140, lines 12-18). Judge Price also noted “So there’s no reason for me to punish the County any further. I mean, they’re doing it.” (R. p. 141, lines 19-21).

Judge Price’s conditional injunction was amended by his Order, filed on August 24, 2022, to provide that the injunction order would expire on September 6, and that the actions of the County Council in enacting the ordinance for purchase or condemnation of an alternate site showed “sufficient compliance to satisfy the May 24 Order at this time.” The Order also provided that the expiration of the Order was “without prejudice to the Plaintiffs’ ability to file a new motion for temporary injunction, should they be so inclined, after the scheduled mediation of the case on September 9, 2022.” (R. pp. 26-28).

Plaintiffs filed a renewed motion for preliminary injunction on October 3, 2022 (R. pp. 124-133), accompanied by a supporting memorandum. (R. pp. 146-164). The motion asserted that the County and the ferry operators “have made no good faith efforts toward actually moving forward to cease operations of the commercial ferry service from Buckingham Landing” and requested a preliminary injunction requiring cessation of commercial operations “by the end of the year.” (R. p. 125). On January 2, 2023, Plaintiffs filed an affidavit of Neil Turner in support of their renewed motion for preliminary injunction. (R. pp. 333-336).

In response to Plaintiffs' renewed motion, the ferry operator Defendants filed the affidavit of Henry Criss (R. pp. 326-328), and the County filed an exhibit consisting of the transcript of the August 3 hearing (R. pp. 136-145), the second affidavit of Robert Merchant (R. pp. 305-319), affidavits of Jared Fralix, P.E. (R. pp. 320-325) and Henry Amundson (R. pp. 329-332), and a document listing the record document references relied on by the County for the hearing (R. pp. 165-167). The County also filed, on October 28, 2022, a motion for a stay of further proceedings in the case in the event the preliminary injunction was granted. (R. pp. 83-85).

A hearing on both Plaintiffs' renewed motion for preliminary injunction and on the County's motion for stay was held on January 5, 2023, before the Honorable Courtney Clyburn Pope, Circuit Court Judge. (R. pp. 337-371). Following the hearing, Judge Pope filed an Order Granting Preliminary Injunction on February 21, 2023 (R. pp. 1-12) (sometimes referred to as "the 2023 Injunction Order"). That Order "prohibited [the Defendants] from operating commercial ferry boats from the Buckingham Landing property as of January 1, 2024." (R. p. 10). The Order further provided that "Until that date, the operations may continue consistent with current levels of use while the County and its vendor operators plan and prepare for a relocation by the end of this year." (R. p. 10). The 2023 Injunction Order also ordered an injunction bond to be posted by the Plaintiffs by December 31, 2023, as security in the event the County was wrongfully enjoined. The bond was set, without explanation, at the "appropriate amount" of \$10,000. (R. p. 11).

The County's motion to alter or amend the 2023 Injunction Order or, alternatively, for a new hearing, was filed on March 2, 2023. (R. pp. 168-174). This motion was denied, without a hearing, by a Form 4 Order filed on March 16, 2023. (R. pp. 13-15). A timely appeal from the Order of preliminary injunction and from denial of the post-Order motions was filed by the County with this Court on April 6, 2023.

On February 22, 2023, Judge Pope filed an Order granting a stay of further proceedings in the case pending final disposition of the County's appeal from the order granting a preliminary injunction (the "Stay Order"). (R. pp. 16-19). The Stay Order, by its terms, expressly excludes a stay of the Order granting a preliminary injunction. (R. p. 17). Plaintiffs' motion to alter or amend the Stay Order was filed on March 2, 2023. (R. pp. 175-176). This motion was denied, without a hearing, by a Form 4 Order filed on March 16, 2023. (R. pp. 13-15). A timely appeal from the Order denying the motion to alter or amend was filed by the Plaintiffs with this Court on April 10, 2023, and was withdrawn on June 7, 2023.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Following damage from Hurricane Matthew in October 2016 to the original embarkation site for the County's public ferry to Daufuskie Island, and following an unsuccessful temporary relocation to another site, the County relocated the public ferry site to Buckingham Landing beginning February 13, 2017. (R. pp. 301-302). An aerial photo of the Buckingham Landing area, showing the County property, the commercial dock, the public boat landing, the access road, and a portion of the neighborhood, is attached to and described in the affidavit of David Wilhelm filed by the County prior to the 2022 Injunction Order. (R. pp. 274 and 277).

Buckingham Landing is an area of high ground in Beaufort County located south of U.S. Highway 278 on the Bluffton side of Mackay Creek and immediately near the Highway 278 flyover bridge to Hilton Head Island. The Buckingham Landing neighborhood is not a private or restricted access development, and is accessed by and located on public streets. The ferry embarkation site and commercial dock at issue in this case is located on or adjoining more than 1.3 acres of County-owned property acquired in July 2018 (R. pp. 294-297) along a portion of the water side of Fording Island Road Extension. This County property formerly was the site of a

seafood restaurant (the Sea Trawler) and includes two structures. The County property adjoins, on its south or land side, a long-time County-owned public boat landing at the land's end of Fording Island Road Extension. A portion of the Buckingham Landing neighborhood adjoins the road and the public boat landing. (R. pp. 273-277).

The public ferry site and public boat landing are accessed from Highway 278 by Fording Island Road Extension, a State-owned and maintained two-lane paved public road. As a public road, it is open to use by all members of the public at all hours every day, and entrance into the road is not controlled or restricted. The Buckingham Landing area, and the streets within the area, are subject to the law enforcement jurisdiction of the Beaufort County Sheriff. (R. pp. 274-275).

In his affidavit, David Wilhelm (the Deputy Director of Public Works for the County) stated that the shoulders of Fording Island Road Extension along and across from the County-owned property are posted with "No Parking" signs (including such signs and cones at the gate to the BJWSA pump station, fire hydrant and AED station). The County provides a parking lot for the ferry service passengers on the north or water side of the road across from (but not adjoining) the neighborhood, as well as a remote parking area at the Daufuskie Island Visitor Center at 1536 Fording Island Road (Highway 278) and shuttle bus service to the embarkation site. The shuttle bus that services the passengers to and from the Visitor Center is permitted on the public roads and at the embarkation site. (R. p. 275).

The volume of passenger usage of the County-provided ferry service at Buckingham Landing is evidenced by the affidavit of Henry Criss who is employed by the two named ferry operator Defendants as Director of Marine Operations and is responsible for overseeing operations of the ferry service between Buckingham Landing and Daufuskie Island. His affidavit provides that the ferry operator Defendants contract with the County for the ferry service to Daufuskie

Island and that “The Defendants' ferry service is the only public transportation for Beaufort County residents and others to access Daufuskie Island.” (R. p. 327).

According to the Criss affidavit, the ferry service provided approximately 19,100 individual ferry trips in the year prior to September 2022, “for Beaufort County residents, mostly consisting of Daufuskie Island residents” and, for the twelve months ending October 31, 2022, provided an average of approximately 1596 ferry trips per month “by Beaufort County residents, mostly being Daufuskie Island residents or employees accessing jobs on Daufuskie Island.” (R. pp. 326-328). The yearly figure for individual trips equates to just over 52 individual trips per day.

The evidentiary factual basis for the County’s position on “legal use” of the Buckingham Landing commercial dock as a public ferry site is provided by the two affidavits (and exhibits) of Robert Merchant. (R. pp. 278-319). Both affidavits were on record and were argued to the circuit court before issuance of the two Orders now on appeal by the County.

Merchant is the Director of the Beaufort County Planning and Zoning Department and his duties include rendering of official interpretations of the County zoning ordinances (known as the Community Development Code) including determinations of the legality or illegality of nonconformities. These interpretations and determinations are then subject to appeal to the Zoning Board of Appeals pursuant to the Community Development Code. Interpretations and determinations from the Zoning Director are the first step in the County's formal administrative remedy under the County zoning ordinance. (R. pp. 278-279 and pp. 282-284).

In September 2021, Merchant received a letter from the Plaintiffs' attorney, on behalf of four of the Plaintiffs (James Ware, Alisa Ware, Jason DuBose, and Amanda DuBose), that referenced this lawsuit and requested a determination on whether the County's ferry operation at Buckingham Landing was an illegal nonconforming business. (R. p. 279 and pp. 286-287).

Merchant subsequently received a position statement from the County's attorney in this lawsuit that also provided copies of (1) the Beaufort County Zoning Permit for a commercial dock for the Sea Trawler property issued on May 4, 2009, and referencing the OCRM permit by number, (2) the deed filed July 27, 2018 by which the County acquired the former restaurant property and dock for \$2,200,000, (3) the SCDHEC /OCRM Construction Authorization permit, dated May 4, 2009, for a commercial dock at the location, and referencing the original SCDHEC/OCRM commercial dock permit number and issue date of January 11, 2005. (4) the property owner/ ferry service lease for the property and dock dated January 27, 2017, with renewal on August 1, 2017, and (5) a Beaufort County News Release announcing relocation of the County ferry service to Buckingham Landing beginning February 13, 2017. (R. p. 279 and pp. 291-302).

Zoning Director Merchant issued his administrative determination by his letter to Plaintiffs' attorney dated April 21, 2022. (R. p. 279 and p. 304). As he described in his first affidavit, "The gist of my determination was that the County's use of the dock for a ferry service is a legal use under the Development Code." (R. p. 279). The opinion of the Zoning Director was that "the use of the commercial dock as a ferry landing conforms to the original zoning permit that was issued on May 4, 2009." (R. p. 304). This permit "did not establish any conditions or time restrictions. Additionally, the approval of the variance runs with the land, shall be binding on the landowners and their successors and assigns, and shall not be affected by a change in ownership." (R. p. 304).

Plaintiffs appealed the Merchant determination to the Beaufort County Zoning Board of Appeals ("ZBOA"). The ZBOA held a hearing on the appeal and, following the first hearing, also held a subsequent hearing on the appeal and Plaintiffs' petition for reconsideration. The Zoning Board issued a written Decision and Order dated September 16, 2022. (R. p. 307 and pp. 315-319).

In its Decision and Order, the Zoning Board denied the petition for reconsideration and specifically found and concluded that Director Merchant's interpretation of the commercial dock as a legal use of the property for the embarkation point of the ferry service was "correct and proper, and should be upheld." (R. pp. 315-319).

Plaintiffs filed an appeal of the ZBOA action to circuit court on August 23, 2022, after the first ZBOA hearing, before the second BZOA hearing, and prior to service of the written ZBOA Decision and Order. This appeal to circuit court (Case No. 2022-CP-07-01598) remains pending at the time of this writing.

The County's efforts to locate an alternative site to Buckingham Landing, independent of court action, are shown in the affidavit of Jared Fralix (filed on October 11, 2022) (R. pp. 320-325), and in the affidavit of Henry Amundson (filed on November 14, 2022) (R. pp. 329-332). These affidavits outline some of the details of the necessary alternative site property identification, site and dock design, procurement, contracting required for an alternative site, as well as the types of approvals needed from agencies of other governments such as SCDHEC, OCRM and USCOE. These affidavits also describe problems with any selection of certain other possible alternative ferry sites, including the Jenkins Island/Neil Turner site.

The County's further efforts to relocate from Buckingham Landing also included the adoption of County Ordinance 2022/35 authorizing the purchase or condemnation for up to \$3,400,000 of a designated site of approximately 4.98 acres on Helmsman Way on Hilton Head Island. (R. p. 133). The Ordinance, which was given the first of three required readings on June 27, 2022, was given third and final reading on August 8, 2022. This Ordinance served to initiate the County's efforts to obtain the alternative site property, resulting in the filing on September 15, 2022, of a condemnation action (Beaufort County v. Broad Creek Development, LLC with Case

No. 2022-CP-07-01762) that remains pending. The landowner in the condemnation action then filed, on October 12, 2022, an action in circuit court challenging the condemnation (Broad Creek Development, LLC v Beaufort County, Case No. 2022-CP-07-01978) that also remains pending. (R. p. 331 and p. 166).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An interlocutory order in the court of common pleas granting or denying an injunction is immediately appealable. S.C. Code § 14-3-330(4). The grant or denial of an injunction by the trial court will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. Peek v. Spartanburg Regional Healthcare System, 367 S.C. 450, 454, 626 S.E.2d 34, 36 (Ct. App. 2005), cert. denied (2007). An abuse of discretion occurs when the decision of the trial court is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law. Id.

An action for an injunction is equitable in nature. LeFurgy v. Long Cove Club Owners Association, Inc., 313 S.C. 555, 557, 443 S.E.2d 577, 578 (Ct. App. 1994). In equitable actions, an appellate court may review the record and find facts in accordance with its view of the preponderance of the evidence. LeFurgy, 313 S.C. at 557, 443 S.E.2d at 578.

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