RECEIVED

Sep 06 2023

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
The Honorable Courtney Clyburn Pope, Circuit Court Judge
Beaufort County
Trial Court Case No. 2021-CP-07-1078

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-000581

James Ware, Alisa Ware, Henry Spahr, Elaine Spahr,
Julie Sanders, William Craig Denny, Jeff Toomer, Allyson Toomer,
Louise E. Davis, Donna Nutty, Thomas J. MacDonald,
Michael G. MacDonald, Susanne B. MacDonald, Arlene Coleman,
William H. McGee, Patti M. MacDonald, Scott M. MacDonald,
Rose F. McGee, Jason DuBose, Amanda DuBose, Ronald L. Broome,
Lawrence E. Jones, D. Diane Burr, Mark H. Thomas, Kelly C. Thomas,

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY ORDERING A PROHIBITORY PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION THAT REQUIRES THE COUNTY TO RELOCATE ITS COMMERCIAL FERRY OPERATIONS FROM THE HISTORIC BUCKINGHAM LANDING COMMUNITY BY JANUARY 1, 2024.

As is noted above, under South Carolina law, a party seeking to obtain injunctive relief generally must demonstrate that: (1) it would suffer irreparable harm if the injunction is not granted; (2) it will likely succeed on the merits of the litigation; and (3) there is an inadequate remedy at law. See, e.g., FOC Lawshe Ltd. Partnership v. International Paper Co., 352 S.C. 408, 574 S.E.2d 228 (Ct. App. 2002). “In evaluating whether a plaintiff is entitled to a preliminary injunction, the court must examine the merits of the underlying case only to the extent necessary to determine whether the plaintiff has made a sufficient prima facie showing of entitlement to relief.” Compton v. South Carolina Dept. of Corrections, 392 S.C. 361, 367, 709 S.E.2d 639, 642 (2011).

In its first argument, Appellant Beaufort County attacks the forthcoming Preliminary Injunction under a theory that its “very breadth” demonstrates “the circuit court’s lack of sound discretion in issuing the Order.” See Appellant’s Brief at p. 13. The County urges that Judge Pope should have instead addressed “parking and traffic issues,” citing Eldridge v. City of Greenwood, 308 S.C. 125, 417 S.E.2d 532 (1992). However, Eldridge dealt with a unique specific fact situation involving a Circuit Court having prohibited certain landowners from contacting potential members of a class action, while allowing the City of Greenwood to contact them for purposes of obtaining quit claim deeds to a certain right-of-way. The Supreme Court noted the sweeping restraining order “frustrated one of the purposes of Rule 23(d)” and reversed. 308 S.C. at 127.

Here, the County’s blatant continuing violation of its own zoning ordinance (the Buckingham Landing Community Preservation District) was clear to two Circuit Court Judges—both Judge Pope and Judge Price—who both entered Preliminary Injunctions clearly aimed at moving the County’s commercial ferry operations out of the historic Buckingham Landing neighborhood, while providing sufficient time for the County—if it chose to in good faith—to make alternative arrangements.

The County also attacks the date of January 1, 2024 as being “purely arbitrary,” but notes it was more than eight (8) months after the April 15, 2023 date that had been requested by the Plaintiffs. See Appellant’s Brief at p. 14. Instead, the County asserts that Judge Pope should have rejected the Neil Turner Affidavit, embraced the Henry Amundson Affidavit, and refused the requested preliminary injunction. Judge Pope clearly gave the County more time than the Plaintiffs had requested, and January 1, 2024 is no more “arbitrary” than any other date would have been.

Although the County does not like the Preliminary Injunction (just as it did not like Judge Price’s before it), evidentiary support clearly exists in the Affidavits of Alisa Ware, James Ware, Amanda DuBose, Zach Dressher, Ronald Broome and Neil Turner supporting the allegations that the County has—after securing the neighborhood’s consent to temporarily use the old restaurant dock after Hurricane Matthew—continuously violated its own zoning ordinance and is continuing to damage the historic neighborhood and its residents. The County’s argument that the “breadth” of the injunction itself somehow meets its obligation to bring this Court a “clear showing” of an abuse of discretion is simply wrong. Judge Pope had factual evidentiary support for her Order. She listed sixteen separate factual findings in her order supporting her decision. See Order, (R. pp. 4-6).

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR NOR ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ORDERING A PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION EVEN THOUGH THE COUNTY'S DIRECTOR OF ZONING, FOLLOWING GUIDANCE FROM THE COUNTY'S LEGAL COUNSEL, ISSUED AN OPINION THAT THE COUNTY'S OPERATION OF THE COMMERCIAL FERRY WAS A "LEGAL USE" UNDER THE ZONING ORDINANCE.

In its second argument, Beaufort County asserts the Preliminary Injunction must be overturned because Judge Pope supposedly "disregarded and ignored all evidence" found in Beaufort County Zoning Director's Robert Merchant's Affidavits discussing Director Merchant's opinion rendered with the assistance of the County's Attorney (Appellant's Brief at p. 16, citing Merchant Affidavits of May 16, 2022 (R. p. 278), and Second Affidavit of Merchant, dated October 10, 2022 (R. p. 306)), that the County's commercial ferry operation from the former restaurant dock, was a "legal use." However, simply because Judge Pope did not adopt the Zoning Director's opinion does not mean she ignored it. The Beaufort County Board of Zoning Appeals also declined to embrace Director Merchant's opinion when the BZOA deadlocked in a tie vote, 3-3, on a motion to overturn Director Merchant's finding that the commercial ferry operation use of the dock was "a legal use." Merchant Second Affidavit of October 10, 2022, (R. p. 307).

The County has, since its original Motion To Dismiss filed on July 9, 2021 that was denied by Judge Goodstein, wrongfully taken the position that the Plaintiffs in this case were required to obtain an opinion from the Zoning Director as to the legality of the commercial ferry operation in Buckingham Landing prior to prosecuting this action. As Judge Goodstein noted in her Order of October 27, 2021, the Community Development Code specifically authorizes the Plaintiffs to seek injunctive relief without the necessity of pursuing an opinion from the Zoning Director. Order, (R. p. 31). And the scenario that unfolded after four of the Plaintiffs elected in good faith to give the County the opportunity to reverse course by asking Director Merchant to enforce the CDC and

move the commercial ferry operations out of Buckingham Landing, proves how prescient those four individuals were. A brief review of the record documents reveals that while Director Merchant originally signaled a good faith interest in analyzing the situation under the CDC (Exhibit B to Affidavit of Thomas C. Taylor dated March 11, 2022, (R. p. 268)), that 7 months later with the input of the County's attorney, he suddenly and without any supporting documentation, reached the opinion that the commercial ferry operation was a "legal" use of the property. Exhibit 2 to Second Merchant Affidavit dated October 10, 2022 (R. p. 313). Judge Pope did not ignore the Merchant Affidavits; she apparently simply gave them the consideration that she felt they merited.

The BZOA action from James Ware, Alisa Ware, Amanda DuBose and Jason DuBose, remains at the time of the filing of this Brief, at the Circuit Court level, and even if those Plaintiffs' good faith actions in asking Director Merchant to enforce the Buckingham Landing Community Preservation District are ultimately rebuffed, the remaining 32 Plaintiffs in this action are not a part of that action and are not bound by it. They each are seeking the Preliminary Injunction issued by Judge Pope.

Beaufort County further asserts in its second argument that Judge Pope's Preliminary Injunction somehow decided the case on the merits. Brief of Appellant, p. 18. However, unlike Roberts v. Union County Board of School Trustees, 284 S.C. 299, 301, 326 S.E.2d 163, 164 (Ct.App. 1985), cited by the County, where the Circuit Court actually issued a final order on the merits following a Rule To Show Cause hearing as to whether a Preliminary Injunction should issue, here Judge Pope has simply ordered a prospective Preliminary Injunction giving the County more than 10 months to put its house in order and abide by its own zoning ordinances. All other issues in the case remain for trial.

Finally, the Respondents urge this Court to reject any argument that Judge Pope’s prospective Preliminary Injunction “goes too far and attempts to decide, for subsequent courts, the ultimate issues of County liability and appropriate final remedy” (Appellant’s Brief at p. 18), when it was the County’s action in moving for and securing a stay of all circuit court proceedings that has prevented discovery from being completed and preparing the case for trial prior to the January 1, 2024 Preliminary Injunction action date. Order Granting Stay (R. p. 16).

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR NOR ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN IMPOSING A PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION GIVEN THE EVIDENCE OF IRREPARABLE HARM TO PLAINTIFFS.

Beaufort County asserts that the Plaintiffs failed to show evidence of irreparable harm because supposedly no sufficient factual or legal basis for a preliminary injunction was provided, calling the Affidavits submitted “predominantly general and vague in nature.” Appellant’s Brief at p. 19. However, the Affidavits of Plaintiffs Alisa Ware (R. pp. 181-182); James Ware (R. pp. 256-257); Amanda DuBose (R. p. 251); and Ronald Broome (R. p. 262), quoted earlier, actually show as follows:

- a. An exponential increase in daily traffic flow on Fording Island Road Ext.
- b. Illegal parking in the boat landing and along roadways on Fording Island Road Ext. and Big Oak St.
- c. Numerous cars parked under the Bluffton Parkway flyover bridge and behind the gas station as overflow parking for the ferry service.
- d. Ferry passengers trespass on private property.
- e. The County operated shuttle bus using the public boat landing as a designated pick up/drop off location for ferry passengers in violation of County Ordinance 102 Article II.
- f. Numerous cars excessively speeding on Fording Island Road Ext.

- g. On several occasions, walkers and bikers (including children) being forced off the road by speeding ferry passengers.
- h. Excessive noise emitting from the ferry dock and parking lot begins as early as 6:00am until after 9:00pm.
- i. Ferry passengers allow their dogs to roam unleashed within Buckingham Landing and defecate on private properties.
- j. Ferry passengers parking and blocking access to the BJWSA pump station, fire hydrant and AED station.
- k. Ferry passengers using Fording Island Road Ext. and the boat landing to unload and load their belongings in violation of County Ordinance 102 Article II.
- l. Ferry passengers parking and blocking access to private driveways and blocking access to other roads in the neighborhood.

Although it is true that the Court of Appeals in the single case cited by the Appellant, LeFurgy v. Long Cove Club Owners Association, Inc., 313 S.C. 555, 443 S.E.2d 577 (1994), did in dicta state that people living in organized communities must suffer some annoyance and inconvenience from each other incident to city life, the LeFurgy case must be analyzed in light of its facts, which included testimony from Mr. LeFurgy that the tee box alleged to be a nuisance, “was used approximately three times a day.” 313 S.C. at 561, footnote 1. While that dicta serves the Appellant’s Brief well, the case is not on point. Here, the filed Affidavits show continuing daily harm from 6:00 a.m. until 9:00 p.m. in myriad ways which differentiate the circumstances from a tee box being used three time a day.

More importantly to this Court’s analysis of this case and the issue of whether the Plaintiffs produced evidence or irreparable harm, is the Supreme Court’s decision in Winget v. Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc., 242 S.C. 152, 130 S.E.2d 363 (1963)(a case relied upon by the Court of Appeals in LeFurgy), in which the Supreme Court held “The question is not whether plaintiffs have been

annoyed or disturbed by the operation of the business in question, but whether there has been an injury to their legal rights.” Winget, 242 S.C. at 159.

Whether a particular use of property is reasonable and whether such use constitutes a nuisance depends largely upon the facts and no definite rule can be laid down for the determination of the question. As stated in 39 Am.Jur. 298, Section 16: “What is a reasonable use and whether a particular use is a nuisance cannot be determined by any fixed general rules, but depends upon the facts or each particular case, such as location, character of the neighborhood, nature of the case, extent and frequency of the injury, the effect upon the enjoyment of life, health, and property and the like. The use of property in one locality and under some circumstances may be lawful and reasonable, which under other circumstances would be unlawful, unreasonable and a nuisance.”

Winget, *id.* 242 S.C. at 160.

The Buckingham Landing Plaintiffs have shown that irreparable harm will result if an injunction is not granted. “[W]hether a wrong is irreparable, in the sense that equity may intervene, and whether there is an adequate remedy at law for a wrong, are questions that are not decided by narrow and artificial rules.” Kirk v. Clark, 191 S.C. 205, 4 S.E.2d 13, 16 (1939). If the threatened wrong involves actual damage, the mere uncertainty of fixing the measure of such damage to the injured party may itself be sufficient to justify the exercise of equitable jurisdiction. *Id.* Irreparable injury as used in the law of injunction, does not necessarily mean that the injury is beyond the possibility of compensation in damages. Bethel M.E. Church v. City of Greenville, 211 S.C. 442, 451, 45 S.E.2d 841, 845. (1947).

Taking the facts alleged in the Affidavit quotes above as a whole, these circumstances demonstrate irreparable harm, notwithstanding the fact the County’s David Wilhelm seeks to question the severity of the harm through his Affidavit. Wilhelm Affidavit of May 16, 2022, (R. p. 273). The truth of the matter is that even though Fording Island Extension may be a public road,

if the commercial ferry were not moving over 25,000 people a year through the Buckingham Landing neighborhood, these damages would not exist.

IV. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR NOR ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN IMPOSING THE PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION GIVEN THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED OF A LACK OF ADEQUATE REMEDIES AT LAW.

In this argument, the County urges this Court to strike down the Preliminary Injunction because four of the 36 Plaintiffs initiated a good faith, alternative effort to force the County to follow its own zoning ordinance by requesting that Zoning Director Merchant enforce the CDC as it is written. The argument rests upon a theory that the request by four of the Plaintiffs in a separate action, “clearly show[s] the availability of an adequate remedy for Plaintiffs other than an temporary injunction.” Appellant’s Brief at p. 20. Further, the County cites the Complaint’s request for monetary damages and asserts again that Judge Pope abused her discretion “by overlooking the Plaintiffs’ available and adequate remedies at law other than a preliminary injunction.” Appellant’s Brief at p. 20.

The Buckingham Landing Plaintiffs have demonstrated that there is an inadequate remedy at law. The consequences of the damages that are suffered daily—increased traffic through the residential neighborhood, illegal roadway parking, trespassing upon the Plaintiff’s residential property, a County shuttle bus running up and down the road, speeding vehicles, bicyclers and pedestrians being forced off their residential roads, excessive noise from 6 a.m. until after 9 p.m., dogs running free within the neighborhood, and ferry customers parking in violation of fire ordinances and blocking private property—are difficult, if not impossible, to quantify. Additionally, damages would be impractical and ineffective as the property rights of the Buckingham Landing neighborhood residents will be wrongfully affected not just in this instance, but also for the

foreseeable future as long as the County deems it appropriate to continue disregarding its own ordinances and operating the commercial ferry service in this historic neighborhood.

Under South Carolina law, whether there is an adequate remedy at law for a wrong is a question that is not to be decided by narrow and artificial rules. Kirk, *id.* 191 S.C. at 205, 4 S.E.2d at 15. An “adequate” remedy at law is one which is as certain, practical, complete and efficient to attain the ends of justice and its administration as the remedy in equity. *See Santee Cooper Resort, Inc., v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm’n*, 298 S.C. 179, 185, 379 S.E.2d 119, 123 (1989). For the Buckingham Landing neighborhood Plaintiffs, other than a preliminary injunction, there is no certain, practical, complete and efficient remedy that these Plaintiffs can pursue under the circumstances. The issuance of a preliminary injunction is proper under the circumstances.

V. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR NOR ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN SETTING AN INJUNCTION BOND OF \$10,000 .

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